OA 9-5-50

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SID J. WARTE

M/Y 15 1990

JAMES D. SIEGEL,

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. 74-813 Clork

VICTORIA B. SIEGEL,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS WITH APPENDIX

ROBERT H. HOSCH, JR.
BUTLER, McDONALD & MOON
1218 E. ROBINSON STREET
ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32801
(407)898-6600
Attorney for the Petitioner

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case has evolved out of a contested dissolution of marriage action and child custody litigation between the Husband, who resides in New York and the Wife who resides in the state of Florida. On November 20, 1986 Mr. and Mrs. Siegel moved from Maitland, Florida to the original home state of the Husband, New York. They placed their Florida home with a realtor to be sold. They took all their belongings and set up their residence in Poughkeepsie, New York. Upon arriving in Poughkeepsie Mr. and Mrs. Siegel immediately executed a lease to occupy premises located at 44 Kerr Road, Poughkeepsie, New York. The Husband took a job with the family business in Poughkeepsie. Also, there was an agreement that the Husband's father and brother, who are in the construction business, would build a one family home for them.

On March 19, 1987 the Husband, returned home from work to find the Wife, and his daughter missing, together with a small amount of clothing and the family car. (R. 171-175).

On April 6, 1987 the Husband filed a divorce action in the state of New York and the Wife was personally served while in the state of New York. (R. 166-168).

The Wife retained New York counsel and filed motions to dismiss which were denied.(R. 176-177, 210-212). She subsequently answered the divorce, and personally appeared in court. (R. 215-224).

A ter answering and appearing in the Ne York court, the m1 ~~44~ a Petition Dissolution of Marriage dated April 15, 1987. (R. 154-158). On April 27, 1987 a Summons and Petition for Dissolution of Marriage was served on the Husband in Poughkeepsie, New York. The Husband retained a Florida attorney and said attorney filed a MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION setting forth the fact that the Petitioner had not resided in Florida for six months prior to filing the Petition. (R. 190-192). In light of the above motion the Wife's Florida counsel filed a MOTION TO AMEND PETITION dropping the divorce action but filed an action for the Court to determine child residence, custody, visitation rights support obligations. (R. 199-201). This was done even though the Wife had previously appeared personally before the New York Family Court and had agreed to visitation matters ordered by that court. (R. 215-224).

The Wife, who after she resided in the state of Florida for the requisite SIX (6) months, on September 24, 1987, filed a MOTION TO AMENDED PETITION with an accompanying SECOND AMENDED PETITION seeking to add a count for dissolution. (R. 227-233, 240-243).

On October 14, 1987 another hearing was conducted before Judge Johnston in Seminole County whereby he granted the Wife's motion allowing her to add a count for dissolution. (R. 238). The Husband's motions for dismissal, stay and re-hearing were all

denied. (R 236-237, 239). Florida assumed jurisdiction over both the dissolution and child custody issues although the New York courts already had asserted jurisdiction.

The New York Supreme Court held that it had proper jurisdiction over the dissolution proceedings on August 25, 1987. (R. 210-212). This was approximately TWO (2) months before the Florida court ruled it had jurisdiction amongst numerous motions stating that jurisdiction did not exist. (R. 236-237).

On July 27, 1988, the Circuit Court held that the Florida courts had jurisdiction over the divorce and child custody proceedings in spite of the New York order holding otherwise. The Order stated that the Court was unpersuaded by the New York order. (R. 456-457).

Over objections by the Husband's Florida counsel, the Circuit Court on September 2, 1988 entered a Final Judgment concerning the child custody and divorce. (R. 712-718). Although the New York Courts had ruled on child custody matters, due to the time stalling tactics of the Wife's New York counsel, the New York Supreme Court entered a decision after that of Florida concerning the dissolution.

An appeal was taken followed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal concerning the jurisdiction of the Florida courts over the child custody matters as well as the divorce. The Husband argued that the Florida Court should not have jurisdiction over the divorce action due to the dictates of the Full Faith and Credit provisions of the U.S. Constitution as well as the fact

that a prior divorce action was pending in the state of New York.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal decided that the Florida Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction over the child custody matters. (See Appendix 1-4 for a copy of that decision). However the District Court also held that there was no impediment to the Florida court proceeding in a dissolution action when the petitioner meets the Florida residency requirements, notwithstanding the pendency of prior divorce proceedings in another state. (See Appendix Exhibit A).

Both parties filed motions for rehearing or clarification which were both denied by the Fifth District. While the Husband agrees that the Florida courts did not have jurisdiction over the child custody matters, he still asserts that it was improper for the Florida court to assert jurisdiction over the divorce proceedings when prior proceedings were instituted and were being litigated in the state of New York month before those in Florida.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Doctrine of Comity has long been used to maintain balance and harmony between the courts of the several different jurisdictions that exist in our federal system of government.

The United Stated Supreme Court as well as this court have determined what a court with subsequent concurrent jurisdiction is to do to avoid the perils that exist when two courts exercise jurisdiction over the same subject matters and parties.

The United States Supreme Court in dealing with the issue of and problems that exist with federal and state courts exercising concurrent jurisdiction has held that courts already cognizant of prior identical litigation pending before the court of a sister jurisdiction should defer action on those identical causes until the courts of the other sovereignty has ruled on those issues. This is to avoid the problems that would exist if both courts issued different conflicting orders and to enhance the harmony between the different courts in our republic.

Likewise this Court has held that in those cases involving conflicting concurrent jurisdiction in different circuits of this state, that the circuit that first obtains and perfects service over the parties has exclusive jurisdiction to hear all matters concerning that litigation. This Court has reasoned that one court alone should go forward with the litigation so as to avoid unseemly conflict within the state. This same rational should be used and extended with those situations involving concurrent

jurisdiction between courts of sister states. To do otherwise would be to foster the type of disharmony and vexatious litigation that the United States Supreme Court and this Court have attempted to avoid. It is clear from the record that the Wife was personally served in the state of New York and therefore service perfected over subject matter and parties in the divorce issue on or about April 6, 1987. It is further clear that the Husband was initially served with the Florida pleadings on or about April 27, 1987. (R. 154-158). Additionally the record reflects that the Wife was not able to initiate divorce actions in this state until September 24, 1987. five months after New York was exercising jurisdiction over the divorce Additionally the record reveals that the Wife was actively litigating the divorce issue in the state of New York with her counsel from that state. (R. 176-177, 210-212). Therefore to avoid the very forum shopping and the conflicting orders that this Court as well as the U.S. Supreme Court have attempted to do away with by applying the doctrine of comity has been effectivly eliminated by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

Several other District Courts and other authorities have held that it is an abuse of discretion for a trial court not to stay divorce actions when it is aware that simultaneous divorce proceedings are pending before a sister court with concurrent jurisdiction. Therefore the Fifth District Court of Appeal directly conflicts with decisions from other jurisdictions.

It is a well established fact that once a court assumes

jurisdiction, that jurisdiction does not dissolve just because other identical proceedings are pending before a court in a sister state. However it is and has been held an abuse of discretion for a court of subsequent jurisdiction not to stay the dissolution proceedings before it if the issues and parties before the court of subsequent jurisdiction are identical to the action pending in a foreign court so that a determination of the matters in the foreign court would constitute a bar to further litigation in this state. As stated above, the record is clear that divorce issues concerning the same parties and subject matter were pending in New York, five months before the action in Florida. (R.154-158). Additionally, if the New York Supreme Court had been able to completely exercise its jurisdiction, then under the full, faith and credit clause, Florida would not have been able to rule on the matter. Therefore it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court not to stay the Florida proceedings until the New York Supreme Court could have fully exercised its jurisdiction in many of the other districts in Florida. However, in the Fifth District a vindictive spouse may move into the district and have no impediment to institute proceedings in this state while stalling action in the courts of a sister state and push through a divorce, while the other spouse who is properly litigating in the sister state is without a remedy to prohibit such behavior. This would be to allow the vexatious and harassing litigation that the doctrine of comity is designed to prevent.

However, there is case law that realizes that there are certain situations where to stay subsequent proceeding in Florida would work to such a hardship that to deny a stay would not be an abuse of discretion. Examples of such hardships is when there is undue delay in obtaining a just result in the courts of a sister state. In those situations it is not an abuse of discretion for the Florida courts not to stay proceedings subsequently filed in this state. No such hardship was proven in the case at bar. In denying the Husband's Motion to Stay Proceedings, the Circuit Court held that it was not persuaded by the New York court's order for continuing jurisdiction over the matter. (R. 456-457). Therefore the Wife did not show a hardship as to why the stay should not be granted.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal incorrectly based its decision on cases that either supported our view that the circuit court should have stayed the proceedings or involved special circumstances that did not exist in the case at bar, or were clearly incorrect in their holding. While there are cases that sporadically deny the right or power to stay a later filed domestic suit based upon the rational that the pendency of a foreign suit is not a bar or ground for abatement of a domestic suit and between the same parties, the soundness of that decision should be questioned.

While the Fifth District Court was correct in holding that jurisdiction existed in the circuit court over the divorce, it was in direct conflict with this Court as well as decisions of

other District Courts within the state when it held that there was not impediment in requiring the circuit court to stay the divorce matter before it. The better rational that would prevent the vexatious and harassing litigation as well as the problems that conflicting orders create, is for this Court to reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this matter and hold that it is an abuse of discretion for a court in this state not to stay a subsequently filed divorce action, unless there are some overriding concerns that would prohibit the sister court from adjudicating the matter fairly and efficiently.

To hold otherwise would be to encourage the forum shopping and vexatious and harassing litigation that an aggrieved spouse may institute in the Fifth District.

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ASSUMED JURISDICTION OVER THE DIVORCE WHEN A PRIOR DIVORCE ACTION WAS INSTITUTED AND PERFECTED IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT AS WELL AS NUMEROUS DISTRICT COURTS.

The Eighteenth Circuit Court in and for Seminole County, Florida, accepted jurisdiction in the dissolution matter and refused to stay its proceedings comcerning the divorce actions over the objections of the Husband and his Florida counsel. (R.456-457). The court refused to stay the proceedings although a prior dissolution action had been filed in the state of New York and service perfected some five months before the action was instituted in Florida.(R 166-168, 238).

# A. The Florida Court As A Matter of Comity Should Have Staved Its Jurisdiction In Favor of The Prior Pending New York Dissolution Action.

It was improper for the Circuit Court to accept jurisdiction when a prior dissolution action was pending in the sister state Of New York. Furthermore, the Fifth District Court of Appeal was incorrect in holding that there was no impediment to the Florida court proceeding in the dissolution action although a prior dissolution action was pending in a sister state. Not only does this cause a duplication of judicial effort, it increases the possibility of conflicting results. It has long been recognized

that one court should defer jurisdiction when the court of another sovereign with concurrent powers has already instituted proceedings.

The United States Supreme Court has dealt with the issues of concurrent jurisdiction between the federal courts and courts located in the different states. The United States Supreme Court has sought a means by which it would not disrupt the delicate balance that exists in our dual system of government. Noting that their exists the possibility of conflicting and unharmonious court decisions, the Supreme Court has stated a court that is cognizant of prior pending litigation concerning the same issues and parties should defer action on causes properly within its jurisdiction until the courts of another sovereign with concurrent powers have had an opportunity to pass upon the matter. <a href="Darr v. Burford">Darr v. Burford</a>, 70 S. Ct. 587, (1949). This Court has also recognized the wisdom of one court deferring jurisdiction to a court with concurrent jurisdiction.

This court has reviewed the problems that exist when different Circuit Courts within the state have concurrent jurisdiction and has basically invoked the doctrine of comity to settle such issues. This court has held that in case of conflict between circuit courts with concurrent jurisdiction, the one that assumes jurisdiction acquires control to the exclusion of the other. Martinez v. Martinez, 15 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1943). This case involved a divorce action that had been filed in two separate circuit within the state. Both Circuits had

jurisdiction and both were issuing conflicting orders. This Court reasoned that one court alone should go forward with the litigation so as to avoid unseemly conflict of orders issued from time to time and to insure an expeditious and economical adjudication of the rights between parties. Martinez, 15 So. 2d at 845. This court has further defined which court should exercise jurisdiction when both are doing so.

When two actions between the same parties are pending in different circuits, jurisdiction lies in the circuit where service of process is first perfected. Mable v. Garden Street Management Corporation, 397 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1981). This court reasoned that in these types of situations it is the better rule of law that the date of service should govern the jurisdictional conflict presented when two courts have concurrent jurisdiction.

Although this Court has set down a rule of law on which court assumes jurisdiction when two circuit courts have concurrent jurisdiction, the same rational should be followed in instances of concurrent jurisdiction with courts of sister states. The same possibility of conflicting orders and allowing duplicative and harassing litigation exists when the courts of sister states both exercise jurisdiction concurrently as do when two circuit courts within the state do so . To allow the Florida Court to proceed with its dissolution action although the state Of New York had been exercising jurisdiction over the divorce some five months prior to that of Florida, would be to encourage vexatious and harassing litigation and to effectuate the type of

inefficient system and problems that exist when parties have conflicting orders. The rational that the court which first acquires jurisdiction retains jurisdiction should especially be applied to divorce matters where there is normally a high level of animosity between parties which would lead to a higher than normal chance of causing harassing litigation. In the case of bar, it was therefore incorrect for the Circuit Court to have exercised jurisdiction when the courts in the state of New York had perfected jurisdiction. The Wife was served with divorce papers on or about the 6th day of April, 1987 while the husband was served with papers concerning the Florida divorce on or about the 27th day of April, 1987. Thus, extending the logic as laid out by this court, it was improper for the Circuit Court not to stay the proceedings. By refusing to do so , the Circuit Court caused a situation where two courts were issuing conflicting decisions.

Under the principals of comity, a court of a sovereign state is not without power to stay proceedings before it if prior proceedings are pending in a foreign forum. The power to stay is not to be exercised as a matter of right of the litigant but rests in the sound discretion of the court. However it is generally recognized in a domestic action that if all of the relief sought could have been obtained in the previously commenced and pending foreign action, and the issues and the parties in the two suits are identical so that a judgment which would be recovered in the foreign action would be a bar to the

recovery of a judgment in the domestic suit, and there are no special circumstances, the subsequently filed domestic action is vexatious, and the court's refusal to stay it until the determination of the foreign litigation is an abuse of discretion. Annot., 19 A.L.R.2d 306.

The Husband filed a dissolution action in the couples homestate of New York on or about April 6, 1987. The Wife was served with process in that state on the same day. (R. 166-168). The Wife subsequently answered the divorce and personally appeared in court (R. 215-224). The Wife originally filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage in Florida was not able to file a divorce until September of 1987, some five months after the New York court had been exercising jurisdiction over the divorce. The issues before both of the courts was the dissolution of the marriage and the distribution of the martial assets. If Florida action had been stayed as requested, then the New York Supreme Court would have been able to enter a final judgement and thus would have been a bar to the litigation in the state of Florida. Baron v. Baron, 454 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

Therefore it was an abuse of discretion for the Florida Court not to stay its dissolution proceedings before it. The New York action concerning the dissolution was filed approximately five months before that of Florida, the parties were seeking the same relief in the courts of both states and a Final Judgment of divorce in New York would have acted as a bar to the litigation in the state of Florida and therefore it was an abuse of

discretion for the Circuit Court not to stay the dissolution action and for the Fifth District to allow this simultaneous dissolution action to proceed.

# B. It Was An Abuse of Discretion for the Circuit Court not To Stay the Florida Proceedings Concerning The Dissolution Action and the Fifth District's Decision Conflicts With Decisions From Other Districts.

A hearing was conducted on October 14, 1987, before Judge Johnson in Seminole County concerning the Wife's Motion amending her petition to add a count for dissolution. At that hearing, the Husband's Motion to Stay the Florida proceedings due to the fact that a divorce action was pending before the New York Supreme Court, was denied. (R. 236-239). Not only was this an abuse of judicial discretion, the Fifth District by allowing the dissolution action to proceed forward under these circumstances, directly conflict with decisions from sister districts. The Fourth District Court in the Beddingfield decision directly conflicts with the Fifth District in the case at bar.

in those cases where concurrent jurisdiction exists, that under the Rule of Priority, the state that first assumes jurisdiction should hear all matters relating to that jurisdiction. Bedinsfield vs. Bedingfield, 417 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). Although the Rule of Priority is not applicable between sovereign jurisdictions as a matter of duty and is discretionary, the failure to stay proceedings when identical proceedings are pending in another jurisdiction is an abuse of discretion. The

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