0A 9.5-90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES D. SIEGEL,

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

The <u>Schrey</u> case, again, is a very brief opinion but does gives this court some guidance in this matter. It is a case involving a parenting issue. There is no discussion of UCCJA. The court found that Florida did have jurisdiction even though the Pennsylvania proceeding had been filed first. There was no prayer for

custody in Pennsylvania. The Florida proceeding was filed second. The Florida trial judge had declined to exercise jurisdiction based upon the comity principle of priority. The district court reversed and stated that Florida should have exercised jurisdiction. Again, a district court is deciding that Florida as the second state filing should proceed, but there is no discussion of whether or not Pennsylvania was exercising any jurisdiction over the issues of this divorce.

Therefore, there are four districts that have ruled that the comity principle of priority does not have to be followed in this state. The First, Third, Fourth, and Fifth, all basing their decisions fundementally upon the <u>Gratz</u> decision.

B. THE FLORIDA COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT NEW YORK HAD NOT EXERCISED ITS JURISDICTION IN THE HUSBAND'S NEW YORK DIVORCE ACTION.

The following facts are important in determining the State of New York's jurisdiction over the Wife in the divorce proceeding.

November 20, 1986, some five years and eight months after the parties had been married and residing in Florida, they suddenly relocated to New **York** when the husband was threatened with death by some drug dealing associates.

March 19, 1987, some four months after arriving New York, the Wife left the Husband relocated back to Florida with the minor child.

March 28, 1987, the Husband removes the minor daughter from the Wife's home and returns with her to New York.

April 2, 1987, the Wife executed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage in the State of Florida.

April 6, 1987, while the Wife was in New York, solely for the purpose of attempting to obtain a court order to see her daughter, she was served with a summons for divorce. (In New York the action for divorce is a mere notice and does not contain the petition for divorce but under New York law this is

recognized as the date when action is commenced.) This was some four and one-half months after the parties had first relocated in New York.

April 15, 1987, the Wife instituted suit for divorce in the State of Florida by filing the same in the Circuit Court, 18th Judicial Circuit, Seminole County.

April 22, 1987, the Wife filed a motion to dismiss through her New York counsel for lack of jurisdiction. Simultaneous therewith the Wife filed an affidavit and her attorney filed affirmation.

April 27, 1987, husband was served by long arm statute in New York with the Wife's Petition for Divorce. (A 47)

May 20, 1987, the Husband's Florida counsel filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and a motion to stay the proceeding in the Florida Court.

August 19, 1987, the trial judge in Florida conducted an extensive evidentiary hearing on the issue of jurisdiction at which all parties appeared and testified. At the conclusion of that hearing the Court entered an oral order that was subsequently reduced to writing wherein the court found:

- 1) that the Wife was not a resident in the State of New York when she was served with papers on April 6, 1987, affirmatively finding that she had established residency in the State of Florida on March 19, 1987, and her return to New York was to appear at the hearing;
 - 2) that the service of process on the Wife was ineffective in New York;
- 3). that the child had substantial contacts in the State of Florida, more than any other state setting forth those contacts;
- 4). that both actions that were filed in the State of New York were not in substantial compliance with the UCCJA, and
- 5) that the earliest date that the State of New York could have jurisdiction over the minor child under the UCCJA would have been April 26, which would have been eleven days after the commencement to the Florida action.

The Court concluded by denying the motion for stay and motion to dismiss, affirmatively finding that the State of Florida had jurisdiction.

August 22, 1987, the Wife amended her pleading to a \$61.09 Petition.

August 25, 1987, the Supreme Court of New York (Trial Court) entered an order denying the Wife's motion to dismiss finding:

- the Wife was personally served in the State of New York and
- 2) the residency of the Wife is a substantive element to be proved in the matrimonial action.

The court did not set an evidentiary hearing on this matter.

March 14, 1988, the Wife filed an answer to the divorce petition and set up six affirmative defenses, the first of which was that there was no jurisdiction over her person, the fifth was that there was no jurisdiction over the subject matter, and the sixth was the divorce action could not properly be maintained under \$230 DRL. (Domestic Relations Law).

Jurisdiction over actions for divorce in the State of New York is governed by statute. Domestic Relations Law \$230 succinctly sets forth the residency requirements for the institution of an action for divorce. There are five such provisions, four of which carry with it specific time requirements. The first, second and third provisions require a one year residency in the State of New York before the action can be instituted. The fifth ground requires two years of residency. The fourth ground permits an action to be instituted where both parties are residents of the State of New York at the time of the commencement of the action and that the cause of action occurred in the state.

The New York court has still not heard the divorce petition largely due to the inability of the husband to establish that the Wife was a resident of the State of New York on April 6, 1987, the date she was actually served. If it is

determined that the husband could not properly institute a cause of action for divorce in the state of New York because of the Wife's non-residency, then it would require a new action filed after November 21, 1987, in order to meet the statutory residency requirement of DRL §230. Up to the present time, the husband has not instituted a new action for divorce in New York under the residency requirements under the third provision of the statute. The Wife pursued her petition for dissolution of marriage through to final judgment which was entered on September 8, 1988, and supplemented thereafter on December 9, 1988.

The New York Trial Judge predicated his decision denying the Wife's motion to dismiss upon a 1976 case of Lacks v Lacks, 359 NE 2nd 384. In that case, the Court of Appeals of New York was called upon to set aside a final judgment for divorce that was entered in 1970. The Wife had opposed the divorce and fought it through the appellate process. Four years after the final judgment had been entered and two years after all of her appeals had been exhausted, she filed a collateral attack alleging that the Husband was not a resident of the State of New York for one full year prior to the commencement of the original action. Faced with the unpleasant task of opening up a final divorce decree that had been entered some four years before, they decided that a divorce judgment granted in absence of the residency requirement as provided for under \$230; (even if erroneously determined as a matter of law or fact) is not subject to a "vacatur". This is apparently a procedure similar to our Fla.R.Civ.P. Rule 1.540 (B), Relief from Judgment or Decree.

The issue was decided by the New York Court without the taking of any evidence, based upon affirmation and affidavit, and basically decided as a matter of law upon the Lacks case which held that the residency requirements under \$230 only go to the substance of the divorce action and not to the jurisdiction of

the Court to hear the matter, and therefore would have to be proved as an element of the divorce cause of action.

For the sake of argument, this construction of subject matter jurisdiction places many citizens of this state and every other state in the union at peril if a wayward spouse were to try to delay an expected divorce filing in his or her present state of residence. For example, if the husband and wife in this case had gone to New York for a vacation or any reason, and shortly after arriving the husband suspecting that the wife was going to file for divorce in their home state immediately serves the wife with a notice of divorce under New York law. He alleges that the wife is a resident of New York and she committed acts that would be grounds for dissolution of the marriage. The husband then declares that he is going to remain in New York and make that his residence. The wife upon returning to the state where the parties had resided institutes a second divorce proceeding. Even though the parties had lived for twenty years in this state, the case would be stayed based upon the Husband's position in this case.

Under the principle of priority the state of New York would have the jurisdiction to proceed with the divorce proceeding at least through the final trial, and any attempt by the wife to dismiss the New York case would be met with a denial based upon the Lacks decision. If it was established at the trial that the wife was not a resident when she was served with the New York summons for divorce, then the divorce petition would be dismissed. At this juncture, maybe two or more years later, the wife could finally attempt to revive her action for divorce. All that time any proceeding for divorce in the sister state would have been stayed with the wife having to go to the expense of litigating the matter in two states and suffering many other anomalies as a result of the delay in justice.

The position of the trial judge in New York does not comport with logical sense. It puts New York in a position of being able to control the pace of the

litigation, even though ultimately the issue of the right of New York to proceed would be denied. A more logical procedure in this matter would have been for the State of New York to immediately take evidence on the issue of whether or not the Wife was in fact a resident at the time and if that evidence established that she was not a resident to dismiss or terminate the action as opposed to requiring that matter to be heard at the final hearing of the cause. In this case such an action on the part of either of the judge in New York would have determined that the Wife was not a resident and that the jurisdiction - or whatever New York chooses to call it - would have to be dismissed. With that dismissal in May or June of 1987, the Florida trial judge would then have been able to have proceeded to determine all of the issues in the divorce petition.

C. THE POLICY BEHIND THE EXISTING LAW OF FLORIDA REGARDING APPLICATION OF THE DOCTRINES OF COMITY, PRIORITY, AND FULL FAITH AND CREDIT IS SOUND AND SHOULD BE APPLIED TO THE FACTS IN THE INSTANT CASE.

The doctoring of judicial comity is not a rule of law but is one of practical convenience and expediency based upon the theory that it is a beneficial exercise in interstate harmony. The doctrine is not a rule of law, but one of practice, convenience and expediency.

The courts of the State of Florida have acknowledged and recognized the doctrine and have followed it when it did not overrule established principles in Florida. For example, it would not be used to override the State of Florida's established public policies. It can be departed from for the purpose of protecting citizens of this state or enforcing some paramount rule of public policy, or where the enforcement of a sister state's law would be in conflict with laws of the State of Florida and would give non-residents an advantage over residents. All of this language adopted by the courts over the years have given the trial judge the right

to exercise discretion in regard to giving way to the jurisdiction of a sister state in the area of principle of priority, that is, the court which first asserts jurisdiction has jurisdiction. The doctrine of comity, along with its exceptions, has been permitted to be applied by the trial judges of this state.

The issues presented in this review, when reduced to its basic core, go to the requirements placed upon a trial court faced with a principle of priority question. It has been argued by the Husband in this case, and suggested by some other cases in this jurisdiction, that the trial judge must grant a stay of the Florida case immediately upon being satisfied that there is a pending case in a sister state. Other cases suggest the trial judge in the above situation is required to set down a plenary evidentiary hearing to determine whether the sister state has, in fact, proper jurisdiction under applicable state and federal law, and only upon such factual findings would the court then either grant or deny the requested stay. There may even be a mid-ground position which holds that a trial court in the State of Florida can either grant the stay immediately without the taking of any testimony or holding any hearing, or may, in its discretion, hold a hearing to make the determination. That decision will be reviewed only based upon an abuse of discretion.

The facts in the instant case reveal clearly that the trial court judge did not automatically stay the Florida proceedings upon being notified that a prior proceeding for dissolution of marriage was pending in the State of New York. Therefore, if the rule in Florida is that a trial court judge is required to automatically issue that stay, then the trial court judge misapplied the rule and the Fifth District Court of Appeals erred in affirming that decision.

On the other hand, if trial court judges in the State of Florida have either the responsibility or discretion to conduct plenary evidentiary hearings, then the trial court judge in the instant case did not err by holding such a hearing. The record

in the case below reveals that the Husband filed his motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and motion to stay on May 20, 1987. The matter came up for hearing on August 6, 1987, at which time the judge entered an order continuing the hearing until August 19, 1987, in order to take evidence on the jurisdiction of the State of Florida. Additionally, the court indicated in its order that pursuant to the authority of F. S. 61.1314 that he would contact the appropriate judges in New York where the other proceeding was pending. On August 19, 1987, the matter came on for a plenary evidentiary hearing. At this hearing the Wife appeared personally and by counsel and testified, and the Husband appeared by Florida counsel. The court, on request of Husbands Florida counsel, permitted the Husband and the Husband's New York counsel to appear by phone during the hearing. Testimony was taken from both of the parties. Argument was made by both New York and Florida counsel.

The court orally entered its order setting forth four findings and instructed Wife's counsel to prepare an order based upon those findings. The findings are set forth in the transcript of the proceedings and in the order that was ultimately entered on October 13, 1987. Based upon the testimony of the Husband and the Wife, the court determined:

First, that the Wife was not a resident of New York when she was served with papers in New York on April 6, 1987, and further determined that the unrebutted evidence was that the Wife was a resident of Florida and returned to New York on the April 6, 1987, only to appear at a hearing.

Second, that service of process on the Wife was ineffective under DRL §230.

Third, that the child had more substantial contacts with the State of Florida and neither of the two actions in the State of New York were commenced in substantial compliance with the UCCJA.

And, finally, that the earliest date the New York Court court could be deemed to have jurisdiction under the UCCJA would be April 26, 1987, or eleven days after the commencement of the Florida action. At the time that the Florida judge entered its ruling on August 19, 1987, the trial judge in New York had not ruled upon jurisdiction then resting in New York. The Order denying the Wife's motion to dismiss the New York action because of lack of jurisdiction over her was not signed by the judge until August 25, 1987, some six days later. The Husband filed a motion for rehearing setting forth the alleged stipulation of the Wife to the New York jurisdiction and the order by the trial court judge denying the Wife's motion to dismiss. That matter came on for hearing on October 15, 1987, and after extensive argument by counsel, the court denied the motion for rehearing and the Husband took a non-final appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

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